

# Measure Applications Partnership 2022 Considerations for Measure Set Review in Federal Programs: Clinician, Hospital, and Post-Acute Care/Long-Term Care

Final Report

September 23, 2022

This report is funded by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services under contract HHSM-500-T0003, Option Year 3.

# Contents

1.	Executive Summary	.3
2.	Background: MAP Structure and Composition	.4
	2.1 Rural Health Advisory Group	.4
	2.2 Health Equity Advisory Group	.4
	2.3 Clinician Workgroup	.5
	2.4 Hospital Workgroup	.5
	2.5 Post-Acute Care/Long-Term Care Workgroup	.5
3.	MSR Process Review	.6
4.	Themes	.8
	4.1 Health Equity Advisory Group Themes	.8
	4.2 Hospital Workgroup Themes	.8
	4.3 Clinician Workgroup Themes	.9
	4.4 PAC/LTC Workgroup Themes	.9
	4.5 Rural Health Advisory Group Themes	.9
5.	Considerations for Specific Programs	.9
	5.1 PCHQR Program	.9
	5.2 ASCQR Program	11
	5.3 Hospital OQR Program	12
	5.4 MSSP	15
	5.5 MIPS Program	20
	5.6 HH QRP	24
6.	Future Considerations for the MSR Process	30
7.	Conclusion	30
Αį	ppendices3	30
	Appendix A: MAP Rosters and NQF Staff	30

# 1. Executive Summary

The Measure Applications Partnership (MAP) provides multistakeholder, consensus-based input on measures most appropriate for public reporting, performance-based payment, quality, and efficiency to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). A December 2020 omnibus appropriations legislation included funding for Medicare Extenders as well as language related to potential activities that MAP may undertake to review measures for potential removal from regularly assessed federal quality and performance programs. Subtitle A— Section 102 of the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2020 grants the consensus-based entity that provides input on the selection of quality and efficiency measures used in various Medicare programs the authority to provide input on the removal of quality and efficiency measures as well.

During the 2022 cycle, MAP reviewed 32 measures during the Measure Set Review (MSR) for Medicare payment and reporting programs. MAP submitted <u>recommendations</u> (XLSX) to the United States (U.S.) Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) on September 22, 2022. Of the 32 measures, MAP expressed support for retaining nine measures, conditional support for retaining sixteen measures, conditional support for the removal of four measures, and support for the removal of three measures. Table 1 provides a summary of setting-specific decision categories for review.

Clinician Workgroup Measures	*
Support for Retaining	6
Conditional Support for Retaining	6
Conditional Support for Removal	2
Support for Removal	0
Total Measures	14
Hospital Workgroup Measures	*
Support for Retaining	2
Conditional Support for Retaining	4
Conditional Support for Removal	1
Support for Removal	1
Total Measures	8
Post-Acute Care/Long-Term Care Workgroup Measures	*
Support for Retaining	1
Conditional Support for Retaining	6
Conditional Support for Removal	1
Support for Removal	2
Total Measures	10

Table 1. 2022 MAP MSR Workgroup Recommendations

MAP's recommendations for measures included in the MSR reflect priorities to ease the burden associated with increased number of performance measures and identify measures that no longer meet program priorities and no longer provide valuable information for public reporting and payment programs. The measure review criteria guide MAP members in their review of measures for recommendation for removal in MSR meetings.

<sup>\*</sup>cell intentionally left blank

This report will inform members of the healthcare quality community of key issues in measure development across the hospital, clinician, and post-acute care/long-term care (PAC/LTC) care settings.

# 2. Background: MAP Structure and Composition

MAP operates under a three-tiered structure consisting of a Coordinating Committee along with three setting-specific Workgroups and two Advisory Groups. MAP Workgroups and Advisory Groups are representative of a broad range of stakeholders that have an interest in, or are affected by, the use of quality and efficiency measures. Such stakeholders may include, but are not limited to, health plans, healthcare providers and practitioners, research entities, measure developers, national policymakers, patient advocates, patients and families, purchasers, and employers.

The Coordinating Committee, along with the setting-specific Workgroups and Advisory Groups, consist of organizational members, individual subject-matter experts, and federal agency liaisons:

- Organizational members represent leading stakeholder groups and contribute to a balance of stakeholder interests.
- Individual subject-matter experts add content expertise to critical areas, and their knowledge should help to fill gaps that are not met by the organizational membership.
- Federal liaisons represent government agencies and serve as ex-officio, non-voting members.

# 2.1 Rural Health Advisory Group

The <u>Rural Health Advisory Group</u> delivers input to the pre-rulemaking process and the MSR. It reviews all measures under review and highlights measures that may be particularly pertinent to issues in the rural population (e.g., access, costs, or quality issues encountered by rural residents; data collection and/or reporting challenges; and potential unintended consequences for rural providers). The Rural Health Advisory Group helps to accomplish the following tasks:

- Provide input to the MAP Workgroups on the rural health perspective on the Measures Under Consideration (MUCs) during MAP's annual pre-rulemaking process and measures under review during the MSR
- Identify rural-relevant gaps in measurement
- Provide recommendations regarding priority rural health issues, including the challenge of low case-volume and access

The Rural Health Advisory Group reviewed all 32 measures for the 2022 MSR across six programs.

# 2.2 Health Equity Advisory Group

During the 2021–2022 MUC cycle, National Quality Forum (NQF), with CMS funding, launched the <u>Health Equity Advisory Group</u> to ensure that perspectives on health inequities and disparities were adequately considered. The Health Equity Advisory Group reviews all measures under review and delivers input on measures with a lens to measurement issues affecting health disparities and the 1,000+ U.S. critical access hospitals (CAHs).

The Health Equity Advisory Group provides input on MUCs and measures under review with the goal of reducing health differences linked with social, economic, or environmental disadvantages. It is charged with accomplishing the following tasks:

- Provide input to the MAP Workgroups on measurement issues affecting health disparities and CAHs on MUCs during MAP's annual pre-rulemaking process and measures under review during MSR
- Identify health disparity gaps in measurement
- Provide recommendations to reduce health differences that are closely linked to social determinants of health (SDOH)

The Health Equity Advisory Group reviewed all 32 measures for the 2022 MSR across six programs.

# 2.3 Clinician Workgroup

<u>The Clinician Workgroup</u> provides recommendations for coordinating clinician performance measurement across federal programs. This is achieved by ensuring the alignment of measures and data sources to reduce duplication and burden, identifying the characteristics of an ideal measure set to promote common goals across programs, and implementing standardized data elements.

The Clinician Workgroup reviewed 14 measures for the 2022 MSR for two programs:

- Medicare Shared Savings Program (MSSP)
- Merit-Based Incentive Payment System (MIPS)

The following program did not have any measures reviewed during the 2022 MSR:

• Medicare Part C and D Star Ratings Program

## 2.4 Hospital Workgroup

<u>The Hospital Workgroup</u> provides input to the Coordinating Committee on matters related to the selection and coordination of measures for hospitals, including inpatient acute, outpatient, cancer, and psychiatric hospitals.

The Hospital Workgroup reviewed eight measures for the 2022 MSR across three programs:

- Hospital Outpatient Quality Reporting Program (Hospital OQR Program)
- Ambulatory Surgical Center Quality Reporting (ASCQR) Program
- Prospective Payment System (PPS)-Exempt Cancer Hospital Quality Reporting (PCHQR) Program

The following programs did not have any measures reviewed during the 2022 MSR:

- Inpatient Psychiatric Facility Quality Reporting (IPFQR) Program
- Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program (HRRP)
- Hospital Inpatient Quality Reporting Program (Hospital IQR Program)
- Medicare Promoting Interoperability Program for Hospitals
- Hospital Value-Based Purchasing (VBP) Program
- Hospital-Acquired Conditions Reduction Program (HACRP)
- End-Stage Renal Disease Quality Incentive Program (ESRD QIP)

# 2.5 Post-Acute Care/Long-Term Care Workgroup

The PAC/LTC Workgroup reviews measures for PAC and LTC programs. Its aim is to establish

performance measurement alignment across PAC/LTC settings while emphasizing that alignment must be balanced with consideration for the heterogeneity of patient needs across settings.

The PAC/LTC Workgroup reviewed 10 measures for the 2022 MSR in the following program:

Home Health Quality Reporting Program (HH QRP)

The following program was reviewed during the 2022 MSR; however, no measures in this program were selected for discussion:

Hospice Quality Reporting Program (HQRP)

The following programs did not have any measures reviewed during the 2022 MSR:

- Skilled Nursing Facility Quality Reporting Program (SNF QRP)
- Inpatient Rehabilitation Facility Quality Reporting Program (IRF QRP)
- Long-Term Care Hospital Quality Reporting Program (LTCH QRP)
- Skilled Nursing Facility Value-Based Purchasing (SNF VBP) Program

#### 3. MSR Process Review

In collaboration with CMS, NQF created a four-step process to convene MAP members and provide input on measures for review and potential removal from federal healthcare programs. The four-step process included Prioritize, Survey, Prepare, and Discuss. During the Prioritization step, CMS and NQF selected federal programs to be reviewed by MAP Advisory and Workgroup members. A survey was constructed by NQF staff with a list of measures within each selected program. During the Survey step, MAP Advisory and Workgroup members nominated measures for discussion and removal using the measure review criteria as a guide for evaluation. The measure review criteria utilized by MAP members to nominate measures in the reviewed programs consisted of the following:

- The measure does not contribute to the overall goals and objectives of the program.
- The measure is duplicative of other measures within the same program.
- The measure is not endorsed by a Consensus-Based Entity (CBE), or it lost endorsement.
- Performance or improvement on the measure does not result in better patient outcomes.
- The measure does not reflect current evidence.
- The measure's performance is topped out, such that performance is uniformly high and lacks variation in performance overall and by subpopulation.
- The measure's performance does not substantially differentiate between high and low performers, such that performance is mostly aggregated around the average and lacks variation in performance overall and by subpopulation.
- The measure leads to a high level of reporting burden for reporting entities.
- The measure is not reported by entities due to low volume, the entity not having data, or the entity not selecting to report a voluntary measure.
- The measure has negative unintended consequences, including potential negative impacts to the rural population or possible contribution to health disparities.

- Feedback from end users or implementers identified negative unintended consequences (e.g., premature discharges, overuse, and/or inappropriate use of care or treatment).
- The measure does not support rural health by negatively impacting issues relevant to the rural population (e.g., access, costs, and data collection and/or reporting challenges).
- o The measure does not support health equity by negatively impacting disparities (e.g., race, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, language, gender, sexual orientation, age, and geographical consideration).

Information provided by CMS and NQF staff on measures during the Survey step was minimal and included the following:

- The CMS Measures Inventory Tool (CMIT) reference number
- Measure title
- CMS program name
- Measure type
- Description
- Numerator
- Denominator
- CBE ID
- CBE endorsement status
- Data sources
- If the measure is required by statute
- NQF staff notes

The measures with the most votes were pulled forward for discussion during each setting-specific MSR meeting. During the Preparation step, the measures with the most votes were posted for a one-week public comment while NQF staff prepared measure summary sheets (MSSs) for distribution to the MAP Advisory Groups and Workgroups. Additional detailed information on the measures provided within the MSSs included the following:

- Measure specific information
- Program use
- Reporting data
- · Performance data
- Measure review history provided by CBE and MAP
- Similar measures in the same program
- Rationale for nomination of the measure
- Negative unintended consequences of the measure

During the Discussion step, the Rural Health and Health Equity Advisory Groups convened for their respective virtual MSR meetings and discussed whether the measures would worsen or negatively impact health outcomes in the rural health setting or increase health disparities. A summary of the Advisory Groups' discussions was included in the updated MSSs that were shared with each Workgroup for review prior to their meeting. The Workgroups reviewed each measure and voted on their support for retaining the measure within the program. For any measures in which consensus was not met for a full vote, the voting decision was made by the Coordinating Committee during its virtual MSR meeting.

For other measures in which a vote was reached by the Workgroups, the Coordinating Committee discussed and voted to uphold or change the original recommendations.

During the 2022 MSR, NQF piloted a consent calendar for the Coordinating Committee virtual MSR meeting. NQF placed measures on the consent calendar if they had 80 percent or greater of voting Workgroup members voting for the same decision category; no new information was received through public comment that was not available or discussed during the Workgroup's review meeting, which was conflicting to the Workgroup's recommendation; and no process concern(s) that may have affected the recommendation of the measure were identified. Coordinating Committee members were able to nominate measures to pull from the consent calendar before and during the meeting. During the review meeting, Committee members were asked whether they wanted to pull any measures from the consent calendar for discussion. Objections were discussed, then the Committee decided whether to pull any additional measures from the consent calendar. For measures that were not pulled, the Workgroups' recommendations became the Coordinating Committee's recommendations. Measures pulled by Committee members were discussed, after which the Committee voted whether to support the Workgroups' recommendations.

# 4. Themes

# 4.1 Health Equity Advisory Group Themes

## 4.1.1 Measures organized by focus areas or categories

The Health Equity Advisory Group discussed the importance of evaluating measures grouped by specific equity concerns, such as care delivery or community resource issues that lead to unintended consequences. Additionally, the Advisory Group noted the importance of having stratification data available for measure evaluation and the determination of disparities-sensitive measures.

#### 4.1.2 Engagement of the scholarly community

The Advisory Group suggested incorporating the expertise of the scholarly community in the creation of a framework to better assess measures for equity sensitivity. The Advisory Group also suggested that it would be helpful to have additional input from measure developers during measure discussions to close the feedback loop on measure concerns raised by Advisory Group members.

# 4.2 Hospital Workgroup Themes

#### 4.2.1 Innovative approaches in emergency department care

The Hospital Workgroup commented on the limited number of measures selected for discussion that shape priorities within imaging services and emergency department (ED) care. The Workgroup noted that the gap in measures for these areas could lead to opportunities for innovative approaches to be created that address the priorities of outpatient care raised during the Workgroup's discussion.

# 4.2.2 Critical focus on ambulatory surgical centers and patient safety

The Hospital Workgroup raised a concern regarding the difficulty outpatient quality reporting programs face in developing measures that address the wide range of services provided in ambulatory surgical centers (ASCs). A Workgroup member noted the importance of keeping the number of patients being served at the forefront of future measures being developed.

The Workgroup mentioned that a shift has occurred in measures addressing patient safety since the start of the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic across the three hospital programs reviewed

during MSR. The Workgroup also suggested evaluating measures based on the degree to which they addressed patient safety and to balance measure discussions between setting-specific concerns and disease states to identify gaps.

# 4.3 Clinician Workgroup Themes

# 4.3.1 Advocacy for accountable care organizations and consideration of the requirement for MIPS eCQMs

The Clinician Workgroup raised a concern regarding the application of an all-payer approach to electronic clinical quality measures (eCQMs) within the MSSP. Facilities and clinicians with large populations of disadvantaged patients, particularly Medicaid or uninsured patients, may be negatively impacted. The Workgroup noted inclusion of these patients could cause skewed results for eCQMs.

# 4.4 PAC/LTC Workgroup Themes

#### 4.4.1 Measure alignment regarding function, systems, and care initiation

The PAC/LTC Workgroup presented interest in measure alignment across function and symptoms (e.g., dyspnea), systematic issues associated with care initiation, preventative measures (e.g., influenza immunization), and the assessment of measure relevance across all PAC/LTC settings. The Workgroup also suggested measure alignment could be achieved with the focus on outcomes of functional measures across programs.

## 4.4.2 Stabilization and risk mitigation

The PAC/LTC Workgroup observed that the goals for certain populations are stabilization and risk mitigation rather than improvement.

# 4.4.3 Capturing disparities in access to care

The PAC/LTC Workgroup raised the importance of recognizing when SDOH are important risk adjusters and which measures would best capture disparities. The Workgroup also highlighted systemic barriers for patients accessing home health. The Workgroup noted that the more patients receive care, the better measures can capture areas for improvement.

#### 4.4.4 EHRs and Interoperability

The PAC/LTC Workgroup emphasized the importance of using electronic health records (EHRs) for more consistent measurement and becoming more familiar with the United States Core Data for Interoperability (USCDI). The Workgroup noted these efforts would fill a gap in this measurement area and contribute to preventing errors and keeping patients at home in rural areas. Specifically, the Workgroup suggested a tiered-approach to using EHRs in home health, mandated by regulation and funding.

## 4.5 Rural Health Advisory Group Themes

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have common themes arise from their measure discussions.

# 5. Considerations for Specific Programs

# 5.1 PCHQR Program

Section 3005 of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) added subsections to section 1866 of the Social Security Act and established the PCHQR Program for hospitals referred to as PPS-Exempt Cancer Hospitals or

PCHs. These hospitals (currently, 11 have been granted with this distinction by CMS) are excluded from payment under the Inpatient Prospective Payment System (IPPS). The PCHQR Program is a voluntary quality reporting program. There are no payment implications for these hospitals, and data are published on the Provider Data Catalog (PDC) website. The PCHQR Program is intended to encourage hospitals and clinicians to improve the quality of care, to share information, and to learn from each other's experiences and best practices. For the 2022 MSR deliberations, MAP reviewed one measure for the PCHQR Program.

# 5.1.1 05735-C-PCHQR: Proportion of Patients Who Died From Cancer Not Admitted to Hospice

Proportion of Patients Who Died From Cancer Not Admitted to Hospice is a measure that examines the proportion of patients who died from cancer not admitted to hospice.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) CBE endorsement, (2) encourage the measure to be paired or harmonized with other measures in the program related to hospice and intensive care units, and (3) consider the health equity and rural health implications. The Hospital Workgroup recognized that this is a new claims-based version of the measure and it may be premature to remove it. The Workgroup also noted that removing the measure may create a gap in the program. The Workgroup acknowledged concerns from the Rural Health Advisory Group, which expressed that hospice services may not always be available in rural settings. The Workgroup also acknowledged concerns from the Health Equity Advisory Group, which expressed that hospice, in its current form, may not be appropriate for all populations and that equity issues may exist as it relates to hospice care. For complete details of the Hospital Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Rural Health Advisory Group member commented that the metric does not allow for discernment of the reason a patient may not have accessed hospice care, and if the measure cannot discern this information, it becomes difficult to understand the impacts on or any negative unintended consequences to rural populations. Another member noted it is not possible to discern through the measure whether patients are not being offered any services or whether the services they are offered do not qualify as hospice, which may be more of a concern in rural areas with fewer providers. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted the importance of tracking differential access with regard to health equity; therefore, it would be premature to recommend this measure for removal from the program. They also noted it is okay if patients do not want hospice because hospice care in this country does not meet the needs of everyone, and in particular, it does not meet the structural issues people of color face. The member expressed that in terms of an equity lens, this measure does have implications. They expressed support for the removal of this measure. Another Health Equity Advisory Group member commented that this measure only applies to cancer-exempt institutions and works under the assumption that hospice care is the right outcome. Another member agreed with this comment, stating that this care is important as an end-of-life resource and overall patient and family experience. This member also highlighted challenges experienced by patients whose first language is not English. They stated that this care option is not explained in a way that is understood by all and also noted the need for cultural and ethical components to be considered during this type of care. The member also expressed that needs are not addressed or often ignored. Regarding an equity perspective, the member stated that this measure is needed with regard to race/ethnicity and language. Another

Health Equity Advisory Group member asked for clarification on previous comments about the potential for the measure to promote care that may not be aligned with patients' values. Another member responded, noting that if hospice is not designed for and responsive to the needs of the whole population and it falls short of important cultural components, then the desired goal should not be to have the highest proportion of patients who died from cancer be admitted to hospice. Another Health Equity Advisory Group member noted that the distinction of a patient not having the choice of care in the first place due to hospice being unavailable is a different question with equity implications. This member recommended that CMS consider a better equity lens for palliative care in the future. One of the Health Equity Advisory Group co-chairs responded with an idea to consider equity with a lens of systems and structures as opposed to personal choice. The co-chair noted that choice becomes relative depending on where a patient lives and their insurance status. They also highlighted the nuance of the discussion so far between evaluating the current limitations of the measure and the importance of the measure with regard to health equity if certain changes were made. A Health Equity Advisory Group member commented in the chat that hospice is associated with improved quality of life among minority communities enrolled, as well as bereaved caregivers. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.2 ASCQR Program

The ASCQR Program was enacted by section 109(b) of the Medicare Improvements and Extension Act of 2006, Division B, and Title I of the Tax Relief and Health Care Act (TRHCA) of 2006. The statute provides the authority for requiring ASCs paid under the ASC fee schedule (ASCFS) to report on process, structure, outcomes, patient experience of care, efficiency, and costs of care measures. The goals of this quality payment and public reporting program are to progress towards paying providers based on the quality rather than the quantity of care they give patients and to provide consumers information about ASC quality so that they can make informed choices about their care. For the 2022 MSR deliberations, MAP reviewed two measures for the ASCQR Program.

# 5.2.1 01049-C-ASCQR: Cataracts: Improvement in Patient's Visual Function Within 90 Days Following Cataract Surgery

Cataracts: Improvement in Patient's Visual Function Within 90 Days Following Cataract Surgery is a measure that examines the percentage of patients ages 18 and older who had cataract surgery and improvement in visual function achieved within 90 days following the cataract surgery based on completing a preoperative and postoperative visual function survey.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) The measure developer must integrate the new survey instrument and (2) The measure must align to use the same survey version across programs. The Hospital Workgroup discussed survey burden and reporting burden and acknowledged that this measure is a patient-reported outcome performance measure (PRO-PM) that measures patient functioning, not visual acuity. As this measure is used in multiple programs, the Workgroup recommended alignment across measures regarding which version of the survey is used. For complete details of the Hospital Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about this measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

Health Equity Advisory Group members highlighted the PRO-PM structure of the measure and its use of a pre/post-surgery survey, noting that the measure may not be equity-sensitive because it does not identify who does not complete the survey. Regarding health equity implications, a member noted that potential measure design issues may exist. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

#### 5.2.2 02936-C-ASCQR: Normothermia Outcome

Normothermia Outcome is a measure that examines the percentage of patients having surgical procedures under general or neuraxial anesthesia of 60 minutes or more in duration who are normothermic within 15 minutes of arrival in the post-anesthesia care unit (PACU).

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program. The Hospital Workgroup noted that this measure has an overall high performance; however, there are outliers and room for improvement. The Hospital Workgroup questioned whether the measure data could be captured by something other than manual review. For complete details of MAP's discussion, please refer to the Coordinating Committee MSR meeting summary and the Hospital Workgroup MSR meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about the measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Health Equity Advisory Group did not have any concerns about the measure from a health equity perspective. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

#### 5.3 Hospital OQR Program

The Hospital OQR Program was enacted by section 109 of the Tax Relief and Health Care Act (TRHCA) of 2006. The program requires subsection (d) hospitals providing outpatient services paid under the Outpatient Prospective Payment System (OPPS) to report on process, structure, outcomes, efficiency, costs of care, and patient experience of care. The goals of this pay-for-reporting and public reporting program are to progress towards paying providers based on the quality rather than the quantity of care they give patients and to provide consumers information about Hospital Outpatient Departments' (HOPD) quality so that they can make informed choices about their care. Data are publicly reported on the CMS Hospital Compare website. For the 2022 MSR deliberations, MAP reviewed five measures for the Hospital Outpatient Quality Reporting (HOQR) Program.

# 5.3.1 00922-C-HOQR: Left Without Being Seen

Left Without Being Seen is a measure that examines the percent of patients leaving without being seen by a qualified medical personnel.

MAP recommended the removal of the measure from the program. The Hospital Workgroup noted the measure by itself may not be providing useful information to patients. The Hospital Workgroup also noted the measure may not have enough granularity to give value. For complete details of MAP's discussion, please refer to the Coordinating Committee MSR <a href="meeting summary">meeting summary</a> and the Hospital Workgroup MSR <a href="meeting summary">meeting summary</a>.

A Rural Health Advisory Group member noted that the measure could be an internal performance improvement metric but would not be useful in a national context for a public quality reporting

program. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted that this measure can highlight certain important inequities (e.g., a lack of basic interpreter services within a hospital could cause certain patients to experience extreme wait times before being effectively triaged). The member also noted that the measure is equity-sensitive. Another Advisory Group member concurred that certain equity trends could be tracked within this measure, such as lack of childcare, transportation issues, employment conflicts, or other reasons preventing patients from being available to wait in the ED for long periods of time. Additionally, another member highlighted that some minority populations rely on access to the ED for care rather than primary care services; therefore, removing the measure could impact access issues. Another member agreed that removing the measure could impact access issues by highlighting that some patients leave the ED due to transphobia or homophobia. Another member noted that it was helpful to know that the measure is not tied to payment, as hospitals would not be penalized for serving lower income populations or people who utilize the ED as a primary care alternative. This member also suggested that the measure could be improved if it could track subpopulations. Another Advisory Group member suggested using a stratification variable of population size or acuity to better examine the communities being served by EDs. The member also suggested that the measure should gather data at an aggregated level. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

## 5.3.2 00930-C-HOQR: Median Time From ED Arrival to ED Departure for Discharged ED Patients

Median Time From ED Arrival to ED Departure for Discharged ED Patients is a measure that calculates the median time from the ED arrival to time of departure from the emergency room for patients discharged from the ED. The measure is calculated using chart-abstracted data, on a rolling quarterly basis, and is publicly reported in aggregate for one calendar year. The measure has been publicly reported since 2013 as part of the ED Throughput measure set of the CMS HOQR Program.

MAP supported removing the measure from the program on the condition that a replacement measure be included in the program. The Hospital Workgroup noted the measure may not be burdensome; however, inaccuracies may be present in the measure. The Hospital Workgroup also suggested stratification by case complexity and acknowledged that removing the measure may create a gap in the program. For complete details of MAP's discussion, please refer to the Coordinating Committee MSR meeting summary and the Hospital Workgroup MSR meeting summary.

A Rural Health Advisory Group member noted rural hospitals could potentially perform well on this measure, and so, its removal would take away one of those opportunities for higher performance; nevertheless, they still expressed support for removing the measure. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

Multiple Health Equity Advisory Group members provided support for retaining this measure in the program because of the implications of throughput in EDs along with the health equity implications. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the <a href="meeting">meeting</a> <a href="meeting">summary</a>.

#### 5.3.4 00140-C-HOQR: Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) Lumbar Spine for Low Back Pain

Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) Lumbar Spine for Low Back Pain is a measure that evaluates the percentage of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the lumbar spine studies for patients with low back pain performed in the outpatient setting where antecedent conservative therapy was not attempted prior to the MRI. Antecedent conservative therapy may include claim(s) for physical therapy in the 60 days preceding the lumbar spine MRI, claim(s) for chiropractic evaluation and manipulative treatment in the 60 days preceding the lumbar spine MRI, or claim(s) for evaluation and management at least 28 days but no later than 60 days preceding the lumbar spine MRI. The measure is calculated based on a one-year window of Medicare Claims. The measure has been publicly reported, annually, by the measure steward (i.e., CMS since 2011 as a component of its HOQR Program.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the condition of CBE endorsement. The Coordinating Committee requested CBE endorsement to include stakeholder feedback on the measure and ensure that the CBE found the measure's validity to be acceptable. The Coordinating Committee noted that claims data may not be a useful proxy for the outcomes the measure is interested in impacting. The Coordinating Committee also expressed concern regarding the lack of improvement in the measure over time but noted significant variation in the measure's performance and that more quality improvement resources may need to be implemented to improve the measure's performance. For complete details of MAP's discussion, please refer to the Coordinating Committee MSR meeting summary and the Hospital Workgroup MSR meeting summary.

One Rural Health Advisory Group member noted that the measure's performance lacks variation; therefore, it is not seen as a helpful measure for performance evaluation and may not offer any benefit in a rural setting. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted the significance of imaging utilization and its potential impact on health equity; they also noted that literature published by the National Health Interview Survey suggests that Black, Hispanic, and Asian participants are less likely to report ever undergoing a computed tomography (CT) scan compared to White participants. Furthermore, this member noted that differences are present in ED diagnostic imaging at U.S. children's hospitals, which found approximately a 20–30 percent difference in the use of imaging services among African American and Hispanic populations. Additionally, the member noted a meta-study that found greater overuse among White patients, highlighting that the equity concerns may not be an inappropriate use or overuse but potentially an underuse. Another member commented that the measure is more about overuse and how decreased access to these services within minority communities contributes to equity impacts. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.3.5 02599-C-HOQR: Abdomen Computed Tomography (CT)—Use of Contrast Material

Abdomen Computed Tomography (CT)—Use of Contrast Material is a measure that calculates the percentage of abdomen and abdominopelvic CT studies that are performed without and with contrast out of all abdomen and abdominopelvic CT studies performed (i.e., those without contrast, those with contrast, and those with both) at each facility. The measure is calculated based on a one-year window of Medicare Claims. The measure has been publicly reported, annually, by the measure steward (i.e., CMS) since 2011 as a component of its HOQR Program.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the condition of CBE endorsement. The Hospital Workgroup acknowledged that the initial CBE endorsement attempt was made in 2008 and that changes have been made to the measure since then. The Hospital Workgroup noted that removing the measure may create a gap in the program. For complete details of MAP's discussion, please refer to the Coordinating Committee MSR meeting summary and the Hospital Workgroup MSR meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group members did not have any rural health concerns about the measure. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the <a href="meeting">meeting</a> summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted comparable findings across the demographic categories but also noted geographic differences, which may be due to the availability of resources in smaller and rural areas. The member also noted that intersectionality was not accounted for, such as the experience lived by an older Black male. Additionally, the member stated that there are known racial and ethnic differences attributed to pain treatment. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.3.6 02930-C-HOQR: Hospital Visits After Hospital Outpatient Surgery

Hospital Visits After Hospital Outpatient Surgery is a facility-level measure, post-surgical, risk-standardized hospital visit ratio (RSHVR) of the predicted to expected number of all-cause, unplanned hospital visits within seven days of a same-day surgery at a HOPD among Medicare fee-for-service (FFS) patients ages 65 and older.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program. Additionally, the Hospital Workgroup acknowledged that having information across settings can be useful for consumers and quality improvement. For complete details of MAP's discussion, please refer to the Coordinating Committee MSR meeting summary and the Hospital Workgroup MSR meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group members did not have any rural health concerns about the measure. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the <a href="meeting">meeting</a>, summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted differences that were present in performance by age, income, and dual-eligibility status, highlighting that this measure could be helpful in the examination of health disparities. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

#### 5.4 MSSP

The MSSP Program was established by section 3022 of the ACA to facilitate coordination and cooperation among healthcare providers to improve the quality of care for Medicare FFS beneficiaries and reduce the rate of growth in expenditures under Medicare Parts A and B. The goals for this value-based program include the promotion of accountability for a patient population, the coordination of items and services for the accountable care organizations' (ACOs) patient population Medicare FFS beneficiaries, and the encouragement of investment in high quality and efficient services. Beginning with performance year 2021, ACOs are required to report their quality data to CMS via the Alternative Payment Model (APM) Performance Pathway (APP). Their performance will be evaluated in the following four categories:

Quality (50 percent)

- Cost (0 percent)
- Promoting interoperability (30 percent)
- Improvement activities (20 percent)

For the 2022 MSR deliberations, MAP reviewed seven measures for the MSSP.

# 5.4.1 00515-C-MSSP: Preventive Care and Screening: Screening for Depression and Follow-Up Plan

Preventive Care and Screening: Screening for Depression and Follow-Up Plan is a measure that examines the percentage of patients ages 12 and older screened for depression on the date of the encounter or 14 days prior to the date of the encounter using an age-appropriate standardized depression screening tool AND if positive, a follow-up plan is documented on the date of the eligible encounter.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program. Clinician Workgroup members noted the importance of the measure, considering it promotes the identification of depression, which may not always be apparent to clinicians. They also noted that removing the measure could create a gap in the program, as there is only one other clinical measure in the MSSP. However, MAP members expressed concerns about the difficulty in determining whether poor performance is due to the patient not being screened or whether the follow-up plan was difficult to document. For complete details of the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Rural Health Advisory Group member noted that due to the rise in mental illness during the COVID-19 pandemic, screening for depression should remain a priority, including in rural areas. Rural Health Advisory Group members raised concerns about the lack of behavioral health specialists available to rural populations, noting that primary care providers (PCPs) who might be most likely to see these patients may be uncomfortable conducting depression screenings. Additionally, primary care physicians in rural settings may be reluctant to conduct screening with no additional resources available for follow-up or referral. Advisory Group members expressed a strong desire to see this topic addressed and as a focus for improvement, given the increasing prevalence of mental health challenges across age groups, but noted uncertainty as to whether the measure was the correct path forward. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted that while PCPs serve as the first line of defense in the detection of depression, studies show PCPs fail to recognize depression in up to 56 percent of patients and only 36–44 percent of depressed children and adolescents actually receive treatment. The member stated that these statistics suggest that the majority of depressed youth are undiagnosed and untreated. One Health Equity Advisory Group member commented in the chat that systems that have a higher proportion of patients with access to portals for digital screening have a much easier time reporting on the electronic version of the measure than systems with less affluent patients. Another member commented in the chat that the measure (and/or eCQM version) is useful for assessing equity, given the under-identification of depression in minority populations. This member also noted that an intersectionality value may be present, given the under-identification of depression in women. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.4.2 eCQM ID:CMS2v11: Preventive Care and Screening: Screening for Depression and Follow-Up Plan (eCQM)

Preventive Care and Screening: Screening for Depression and Follow-Up Plan (eCQM) is a measure that examines the percentage of patients ages 12 and older screened for depression on the date of the encounter or 14 days prior to the date of the encounter using an age-appropriate standardized depression screening tool AND if positive, a follow-up plan is documented.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program. Clinician Workgroup members noted that this version of the measure can reduce reporting burden when compared to the non-eCQM version of the measure. For complete details of the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the <a href="meeting-summary">meeting</a>, please refer to the <a href="meeting-summary">meeting</a>.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any rural health concerns about the measure, although one member noted eCQMs may be less burdensome than paper-based measures and expressed this difference was enough to change the balance in its favor (when considering whether to retain the measure in the program). For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Health Equity Advisory Group comments were carried forward for this measure from the non-eCQM version.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted that while PCPs serve as the first line of defense in the detection of depression, studies show that PCPs fail to recognize depression in up to 56 percent of patients and only 36–44 percent of depressed children and adolescents actually receive treatment. This member explained that these statistics suggest that the majority of depressed youth are undiagnosed and untreated. Another member commented in the chat that systems that have a higher proportion of patients with access to portals for digital screening have a much easier time reporting on the electronic version of the measure than systems with less affluent patients. Another member commented in the chat that the measure (and/or eCQM version) is useful for assessing equity, given the underidentification of depression in minority populations. Another member noted that an intersectionality value may be present, given the under-identification of depression in women. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.4.3 06040-C-MSSP: Hospital-Wide, 30-Day All-Cause Unplanned Readmission (HWR) Rate for MIP-Eligible Clinician Groups

Hospital-Wide, 30-Day All-Cause Unplanned Readmission (HWR) Rate for MIPS-Eligible Clinician Groups is a re-specified version of the measure titled Risk-Adjusted Readmission Rate (RARR) of Unplanned Readmission Within 30 Days of Hospital Discharge for Any Condition (NQF #1789), which was developed for patients 65 years of age and older using Medicare claims. This re-specified measure attributes outcomes to MIPS-participating clinician groups and assesses each group's readmission rate. The measure comprises a single summary score, derived from the results of five models, one for each of the following specialty cohorts (i.e., groups of discharge condition categories or procedure categories): medicine, surgery/gynecology, cardio-respiratory, cardiovascular, and neurology.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program. Clinician Workgroup members noted the importance of the measure for physician and public accountability. For complete details of the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the <a href="meeting summary">meeting summary</a>.

Rural Health Advisory Group members were not certain that rural providers, particularly in CAHs or rural clinics, would be reported in the measure in the way it is currently structured due to exemptions. One member noted that because the measure is not stratified by condition and because rural facilities have low case-volume challenges, there may be validity concerns for rural settings and the measure could be affected by small fluctuations. However, others commented that the measure does provide a way to monitor performance and assist in keeping patients out of the hospital past their discharge. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member explained that data published within *Health Affairs* show that post–ACA, imposing readmission reduction programs through ACOs has led to worsened mortality regarding heart failure as opposed to pneumonia. The member also noted that the measure is too broad from an equity perspective. Additionally, this member expressed the need for comprehensive risk adjustment for socioeconomic status and other SDOH factors that can impact outcomes and are unrelated to the quality of care provided. Another member commented on their review of the literature and findings, expressing that admission following the seven-day window is truly more related to SDOH issues or structural determinant of health issues. This member also questioned how much a hospital system should be responsible for outside of the seven-day window. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.4.4 02816-C-MSSP: Clinician and Clinician Group Risk-Standardized Hospital Admission Rates for Patients With Multiple Chronic Conditions

Clinician and Clinician Group Risk-Standardized Hospital Admission Rates for Patients With Multiple Chronic Conditions is a measure that examines the rate of risk-standardized acute, unplanned hospital admissions among Medicare FFS patients 65 years of age and older with multiple chronic conditions (MCCs).

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) The definitions of readmissions for uniformity across the MIPS and MSSP measure sets must be reevaluated and (2) The validity of a 10-day buffer rule at the ACO level must be evaluated. Clinician Workgroup members noted that if the purpose of the measure is care coordination, the definition of readmissions should be the same across the MIPS and MSSP measure sets. Clinician Workgroup members also noted that the exclusion of readmissions that occur 10 days after discharge may not be appropriate for ACOs, given their focus on care coordination, and urged the measure developer to re-evaluate that exclusion for the ACO version of the measure. For complete details of the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to this meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about the measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member commented from an equity perspective, chronic conditions do have equity differences and utilization is tied to quality. Additionally, the member stated there are compounding factors related to patients with chronic conditions but noted management of chronic conditions as it related to equity is important. Another Health Equity Advisory Group member noted literature indicates there are inequities in Black, Indigenous, and people of color (BIPOC) populations

related to chronic illness and disease and for this reason, it is important to assess. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR Meeting, please refer to the <u>meeting summary</u>.

## 5.4.5 Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS) for MIPS Survey

Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS) for MIPS Survey is a standardized survey instrument that asks patients to report on their experiences with primary or specialty care received from providers and their staff in ambulatory care settings over the preceding 12 months.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program. Clinician Workgroup members noted that the measure is one of few measures that captures patient feedback on their healthcare and improves patient outcomes. Clinician Workgroup members also noted the possibility for the measure to address and mitigate disparities within patient experience. For complete details of MAP's discussion, please refer to the Coordinating Committee MSR meeting summary and the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not comment on the measure. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Health Equity Advisory Group did not comment on the measure. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the <u>meeting summary</u>.

#### 5.4.6 01246-C-MSSP: Controlling High Blood Pressure

Controlling High Blood Pressure is a measure that examines the percentage of patients 18–85 years of age who had a diagnosis of hypertension overlapping the measurement period and whose most recent blood pressure was adequately controlled (<140/90mmHg) during the measurement period.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) Allow multiple encounters, which is important; (2) Change the last reading requirement to an average or a therapeutic window; (3) Allow ambulatory or at-home blood pressure readings to be included in measure; and (4) CBE endorsement. Clinician Workgroup members included these conditions to bring the measure in line with recent literature and to allow for documentation of the home reading of blood pressures. The Coordinating Committee added the CBE endorsement condition. For complete details of MAP's discussion, please refer to the Coordinating Committee MSR meeting summary and the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any rural health concerns for this measure. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member commented that patients suffering from high blood pressure deal with equity issues, thus reinforcing the importance of the measure. However, they suggested that the measure could be improved. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the <u>meeting summary</u>.

#### 5.4.7 eCQM ID:CMS165v10: Controlling High Blood Pressure (eCQM)

Controlling High Blood Pressure (eCQM) is an eCQM that examines the percentage of patients 18–85 years of age who had a diagnosis of essential hypertension starting before and continuing into, or starting during the first six months of the measurement period, and whose most recent blood pressure was adequately controlled (<140/90mmHg) during the measurement period.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) Allow multiple encounters, which is important; (2) Change the last reading requirement to an average or a therapeutic window; (3) Allow ambulatory or at-home blood pressure readings to be included in measure; and (4) CBE endorsement. Clinician Workgroup members included these conditions to bring the measure in line with recent literature and to allow for documentation of the home reading of blood pressures. The Coordinating Committee added the CBE endorsement condition. MAP also agreed to apply the recommendations from this version of the measure to the registry version of the measure. For complete details of MAP's discussion, please refer to the Coordinating Committee MSR meeting summary and the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any rural health concerns for this measure. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Health Equity Advisory Group comments were carried forward for this measure from the non-eCQM version.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member commented that this measure disproportionately affects patients from lower socioeconomic statuses, and this effect is also seen within the Medicare Advantage program, thus making this measure doubly importantly with regard to health equity. Another member commented that in the state of Massachusetts, this is one of the starkest inequities observed within provider systems and within fully insured patient populations. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

## 5.5 MIPS Program

The MIPS Program was established by the Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 (MACRA) to consolidate pre-existing Medicare incentive and quality reporting programs for clinicians into a single program. The Quality Payment Program (QPP) goals for the MIPS Program include improved quality of patient care and outcomes for Medicare FFS, rewarding clinicians for innovative patient care, and driving fundamental movement toward value in healthcare. The MIPS Program makes positive and negative payment adjustments for eligible clinicians (ECs) (including clinical social workers and midwives) based on their performance in four categories:

- Quality (30 percent)
- Cost (30 percent)
- Promoting interoperability (25 percent)
- Improvement activities (15 percent)

For the 2022 MSR deliberations, MAP reviewed seven measures for the MIPS Program.

#### 5.5.1 00641-C-MIPS: Functional Outcome Assessment

Functional Outcome Assessment is a measure that examines the percentage of visits for patients ages 18 and older with documentation of a current functional outcome assessment using a standardized functional outcome assessment tool on the date of the encounter AND documentation of a care plan based on identified functional outcome deficiencies on the date of the identified deficiencies.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program. Clinician Workgroup members noted that the measure was appropriate for specialists such as physical therapists, who regularly use functional assessments in their practice, and the optional reporting nature of the MIPS Program ensures that

clinicians who do not use functional assessments do not have to report the measure. For complete details of the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about the measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted that equity concerns relating to recovery from strokes and other significant events may exist. Another member noted that more insight regarding the absence of functional outcome assessments in certain populations by stratification would be helpful to fully assess the measure. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

#### 5.5.2 01101-C-MIPS: Barrett's Esophagus

Barrett's Esophagus is a measure that examines the percentage of esophageal biopsy reports that document the presence of Barrett's mucosa that also include a statement about dysplasia.

MAP supported removing the measure from the program on the condition that a replacement measure be included in the program. Clinician Workgroup members noted the small number of pathology measures in the MIPS Program and how removing the measure could create a gap. Clinician Workgroup members also noted that the measure is topped out with no role for continuous improvement. For complete details of the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to this meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about the measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member expressed difficulty in understanding equity implications because the measure appeared topped out at 99 percent, indicating that the majority of reports contain the dysplasia statement. The member also noted that health equity concerns with the screening aspects may exist. Another member did not support retainment in the program because they were uncertain of the benefit of the measure, and if the measure was stratified, they would be uncertain of whether the data would showcase high rates of patients with diverse backgrounds. Additionally, another member restated that the health equity perspective is hard to determine due to the topped-out status of the measure and the data not being stratified. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.5.3 02381-C-MIPS: Adult Primary Rhegmatogenous Retinal Detachment Surgery: Visual Acuity Improvement Within 90 Days of Surgery

Adult Primary Rhegmatogenous Retinal Detachment Surgery: Visual Acuity Improvement Within 90 Days of Surgery is a measure that examines patients ages 18 and older who had surgery for primary rhegmatogenous retinal detachment and achieved an improvement in their visual acuity, from their preoperative level, within 90 days of surgery in the operative eye.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) lengthen the follow-up period, (2) add additional exclusions (e.g., macular involvement), and (3) obtain CBE endorsement. Clinician Workgroup members recommended lengthening the follow-up period to allow

for additional corrections to visual acuity and adding exclusions to account for starting visual acuity. Clinician Workgroup members also indicated that a CBE-conducted review of the measure would be useful. For complete details of the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to this meeting summary.

A Rural Health Advisory Group member expressed approval of the outcome measure but questioned its applicability to rural areas due to small volume concerns. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the <u>meeting summary</u>.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted their concern with the measure due to low volume and the difficulty assessing equity issues based on various subgroups. The member acknowledged the public comment recognizing that outcomes for certain groups are worse following retinal detachments, highlighting the health equity concern. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.5.4 00254-C-MIPS: Diabetic Retinopathy: Communication With the Physician Managing Ongoing Diabetes Care

Diabetic Retinopathy: Communication With the Physician Managing Ongoing Diabetes Care is a measure that examines the percentage of patients ages 18 and older with a diagnosis of diabetic retinopathy who had a dilated macular or fundus exam performed with documented communication to the physician who manages the ongoing care of the patient with diabetes mellitus regarding the findings of the macular or fundus exam at least once within 12 months.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) The evidence must be observed to see whether there are processes with clearer links to outcomes and (2) Coordination with the American Diabetes Association (ADA) on their work to improve the evidence base must occur. Clinician Workgroup members included those conditions to ensure the measure improves patient outcomes and incorporates the latest ongoing work to improve the evidence base for the measure. For complete details of the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to this meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about the measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted the measure is valuable because of the substantially higher prevalence of diabetes in the African American and Hispanic populations and disparities in the diabetes quality measures in general. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.5.5 05796-E-MIPS: Diabetic Retinopathy: Communication With the Physician Managing Ongoing Diabetes Care

Diabetic Retinopathy: Communication With the Physician Managing Ongoing Diabetes Care is a measure that examines the percentage of patients ages 18 and older with a diagnosis of diabetic retinopathy who had a dilated macular or fundus exam performed with documented communication to the physician who manages the ongoing care of the patient with diabetes mellitus regarding the findings of the macular or fundus exam at least once within 12 months.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) The evidence needs to be observed to see whether there are processes with clearer links to outcomes and 2) Coordination with the ADA on their work to improve the evidence base must occur. Clinician Workgroup members included those conditions to ensure the measure improved patient outcomes and incorporated the latest ongoing work to improve the evidence base of the measure. For complete details of the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to this meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group members did not have rural health concerns about the measure, although one member noted that the lack of endorsement influenced their vote to support removal of the measure and that the standards for measures should be high, given the small volume challenges in rural populations. The member also noted that since these measures are voluntarily reported in MIPS, the balance of burden and benefits for the measure would be more manageable in other settings. Another member shared a stronger preference for outcome measures than intermediate outcome measures that reflect a standard of care or processes and reiterated the preference for endorsed measures. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Health Equity Advisory group carried comments forward from the non-eCQM version of the measure. A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted the value of the measure due to the substantially higher prevalence of diabetes in the African American and Hispanic populations and disparities in the diabetes quality measures in general. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

#### 5.5.6 05826-E-MIPS: Closing the Referral Loop: Receipt of Specialist Report

Closing the Referral Loop: Receipt of Specialist Report is a measure that examines the percentage of patients with referrals, regardless of age, for which the referring provider receives a report from the provider to whom the patient was referred.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program. Clinician Workgroup members noted the measure's value in improving care coordination and the importance of referrals being completed for a patient's care. However, they noted the difference in performance results for clinicians reporting via registries versus EHRs and suggested that it is important to understand why this difference exists. For complete details of MAP's discussion, please refer to the Coordinating Committee MSR meeting summary and the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting summary.

A Rural Health Advisory Group member agreed with the public comments, which stated that the measure puts extraneous burden on the referring physician and reflects on that physician if the report is not returned. The member also noted rural providers may not have the technology to receive feedback from referrals to urban centers. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to this meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted the importance of coordination of care with populations that have less access to healthcare; however, uncertainty surrounds whether the measure will accurately capture coordination of care. Another member noted that if systems with more resources provide better quality, this will reflect true differences in the care patients are receiving in different systems. The member also commented that this may lead to equity concerns regarding where patients receive care and that systems with more resources may have higher performance because their EHR system makes it easier to document, highlighting the equity concerns from this perspective. Another

member noted that this measure may not have a strong health equity perspective because it is not a true reflection of the differences in quality. Additionally, another member highlighted that if this measure were stratified by race, then the measure may show inequities in the continuum of care for minority patients. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

#### 5.5.7 05837-E-MIPS: Children Who Have Dental Decay or Cavities

Children Who Have Dental Decay or Cavities is a measure that examines the percentage of children, six months to 20 years of age at the start of the measurement period, who have had tooth decay or cavities during the measurement period.

MAP supported removing the measure from the program on the condition that a replacement measure be included in the program. Clinician Workgroup members noted the small number of dental measures in the MIPS Program and removing the measure could create a gap. Clinician Workgroup members had significant concerns about the measure's value and design and suggested a measure that is designed with regard to preventing cavities might be a better fit for the program. The Clinician Workgroup also noted the measure should focus on incidence, rather than prevalence, of cavities. For complete details of the Clinician Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to this meeting summary.

A Rural Health Advisory Group member noted that the measure had not been submitted for endorsement. Another member commented that the denominator does not allow the measure to reveal the full picture of access to dental care, considering it only represents children who already have dental care and not the children who are not coming in for dental care. Another member also commented that high costs of treating tooth decay or cavities can be a barrier to accessing care, and it may not be fair to bring that accountability back to the dentist. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted the importance of the measure from an equity perspective. Another member agreed with this sentiment, further adding that concern exists because the measure is examining only prevalence; overall, however, the measure does contribute toward holistic healthcare. Another member highlighted that the measure may disincentivize dentists who work in communities that have a lack of healthy food and dental care. The member also noted that there are various upstream components from a community perspective and structural components from an equity perspective to consider. Another Health Equity Advisory Group member asked whether clinicians are penalized if they have a high degree of children with cavities. Another member noted that if there are payment consequences, patient populations should be adjusted accordingly due to populations with limited resources. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

#### 5.6 HH QRP

The <u>Home Health Quality Reporting Program</u> was established by section 1895 of the Social Security Act. The goals of this pay-for-reporting program include alignment with the mission of the National Academy of Medicine (NAM), which has defined quality as having the following properties or domains: effectiveness, efficiency, equity, patient-centeredness, safety, and timeliness. For the 2022 MSR deliberations, MAP reviewed 10 measures for the HH QRP.

#### 5.6.1 00187-C-HHQR: Improvement in Dyspnea

*Improvement in Dyspnea* is a measure that examines the percentage of home health episodes of care during which the patient became less short of breath or dyspneic.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) CBE endorsement, (2) reassessment of the measure's components within OASIS, and (3) reevaluation of the measure's reliability and how dyspnea is reported. PAC/LTC Workgroup members noted the potential for subjectivity in the measure as assessment scores are established by observation. The PAC/LTC Workgroup also acknowledged concern from the Health Equity Advisory Group about inequities in referrals to home health. For complete details of the PAC/LTC Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about this measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Health Equity Advisory Group did not mention any health equity concerns for this specific measure; however, the Advisory Group agreed specifically that for the functional outcome measures, limitations in access to home health cause challenges when evaluating equity. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.6.2 00196-C-HHQR: Timely Initiation of Care

Timely Initiation of Care is a measure that examines the percentage of home health quality episodes in which the start or resumption of care date was on the physician-ordered start of care/resumption of care (SOC/ROC) date (if provided); otherwise, it was within two days of the referral date or inpatient discharge date, whichever is later.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) a clarification of the definition of a valid referral and referral start time and (2) CBE endorsement. The PAC/LTC Workgroup acknowledged the importance of timely home healthcare, but it agreed that challenges exist with regard to finding home health agencies to provide services during the COVID-19 public health emergency. The PAC/LTC Workgroup also acknowledged a concern a Health Equity Advisory Group member raised during the Workgroup meeting about the lack of access and referrals to home health for historically marginalized populations. For complete details of the PAC/LTC Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about this measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Health Equity Advisory Group did not have any concerns about this measure from a health equity perspective. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

#### 5.6.3 00185-C-HHQR: Improvement in Bathing

*Improvement in Bathing* is a measure that examines the percentage of home health quality episodes of care during which the patient improved at bathing themselves.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) address patients for whom maintenance is the goal rather than improvement, potentially with exclusions for certain populations and (2) review the measure for redundancy once the cross-setting functional measure is finalized. The PAC/LTC Workgroup noted that bathing is one part of a whole functional assessment. The PAC/LTC Workgroup acknowledged concern from the Health Equity Advisory Group about lack of access and referrals to home health for historically marginalized populations. For complete details of the PAC/LTC Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the <a href="meeting">meeting</a>, summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted that communication barriers and other disability concerns could be present, which undermine the validity of the measure. Another member expressed that understanding what percentage of patients have difficulty bathing would add important context from an equity perspective. Another Health Equity Advisory Group member stated that from an equity perspective, fewer patients from historically marginalized communities or patients with cultural differences compared to their provider, are referred for home health. Another member agreed that a programmatic access problem exists due to a limited population. Overall, the Health Equity Advisory Group agreed specifically that limited equity implications were present for the functional outcome measures; however, limitations in access to home health cause challenges when evaluating equity. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.6.4 00189-C-HHQR: Improvement in Management of Oral Medications

Improvement in Management of Oral Medications is a measure that examines the percentage of home health episodes of care during which the patient improved in their ability to take their medicines correctly (by mouth).

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the condition to address patient populations who would not exhibit improvement, potentially through exclusions. PAC/LTC Workgroup members acknowledged the importance of the measure for safety and adherence. Collectively, the PAC/LTC Workgroup acknowledged concerns from the Health Equity Advisory Group about lack of access and referrals to home health for historically marginalized populations. For complete details of the PAC/LTC Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Rural Health Advisory Group member noted rural populations perform slightly better on the measure, but similar to other measures in this program, there is no stratification for patients who cannot expect to perform this function or for whom management of oral medications is not part of their goals of care. Another member stated that a patient's ability to independently manage oral medications reliably and safely is critical to patient safety, and this is especially important for underserved and rural populations to prevent hospitalizations and acute care. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Health Equity Advisory Group did not mention any health equity concerns for this specific measure; however, the Advisory Group agreed specifically that for the functional outcome measures, limitations

in access to home health cause challenges when evaluating equity. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the <u>meeting summary</u>.

#### 5.6.5 01000-C-HHQR: Improvement in Bed Transferring

*Improvement in Bed Transferring* is a measure that examines the percentage of home health quality episodes of care during which the patient improved in their ability to get in and out of bed.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the condition to evaluate populations in which there would not be an expectation of improvement but rather maintenance. The PAC/LTC Workgroup did not note any issues with variability of the measure's data but did note differences in the overall outcomes, which indicated potential disparities for patients who are non-White, younger, have lower income, and are living in the western U.S. The PAC/LTC Workgroup noted the concern a Rural Health Advisory Group member raised during the Workgroup meeting regarding the correct standard for an individual with a disability. For complete details of the PAC/LTC Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about the measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member stated that the improvement component of the measure may not be the correct standard for someone with a disability, and a more fitting standard may be maintenance of current functionality. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

#### 5.6.6 00212-C-HHQR: Influenza Immunization Received for Current Flu Season

Influenza Immunization Received for Current Flu Season is a measure that examines the percentage of home health quality episodes of care during which patients received influenza immunization for the current flu season.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program with the following conditions: (1) CBE endorsement and (2) a review of how the measure addresses patients who do not receive the vaccine, as covered by items #4, #5, and #7 in the survey. The PAC/LTC Workgroup acknowledged the importance of vaccines but questioned whether this was the right measure. The PAC/LTC Workgroup acknowledged comments from the Rural Health Advisory Group about the potential lack of vaccine accessibility in rural settings. For complete details of the PAC/LTC Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group noted the potential lack of vaccine accessibility in rural settings. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the <a href="meeting">meeting</a> summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member stated when examining flu vaccination rates between 2019 and 2021, the rate remained around 79 percent; however, there are certain races and ethnicities that demonstrate lower rates. The member noted that from an equity perspective, the measure may highlight complications in accessing or scheduling vaccinations. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.6.7 02943-C-HHQR: Total Estimated Medicare Spending per Beneficiary (MSPB) – Post-Acute Care (PAC) HHQRP

Total Estimated Medicare Spending per Beneficiary (MSPB) – Post-Acute Care (PAC) HHQRP is a measure that examines the assessment of the Medicare spending of a home health agency's (HHA) MSPB-PAC HH episodes, relative to the Medicare spending of the national median HHA's MSPB-PAC HH episodes across the same performance period. Note: An MSPB-PAC HH measure score of less than 1 indicates that a given HHA's resource use is less than that of the national median HHA during the same performance period.

MAP supported removing the measure from the program. The PAC/LTC Workgroup noted the CBE's Standing Committee's decision to not endorse the measure based on the lack of scientific acceptability. The PAC/LTC Workgroup suggested connecting cost with outcomes, such as moving towards a value-based metric. The PAC/LTC Workgroup acknowledged the concerns a Rural Health Advisory Group member raised during the Workgroup meeting about the validity of the measure and the small sample size in rural populations. For complete details of the PAC/LTC Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about the measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member expressed concern that the measure may incentivize home health agencies to spend less on certain patient populations. Another member expressed concern that stratifying the measure would reveal less spending on certain populations. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 5.6.8 02944-C-HHQR: Discharge to Community – Post-Acute Care (PAC) Home Health (HH) Quality Reporting Program (QRP)

Discharge to Community – Post-Acute Care (PAC) Home Health (HH) Quality Reporting Program (QRP) is a measure that assesses successful discharge to the community from a HHA, with successful discharge to the community, including no unplanned hospitalizations and no death in the 31 days following discharge. It assesses a HHA's risk-standardized rate of Medicare FFS patients who are discharged to the community following an HH episode, who do not have an unplanned admission to an acute care hospital or LTCH in the 31 days following discharge to community, and who remain alive during the 31 days following discharge to community, for this measure, is defined as home/self-care without HH services based on the Patient Discharge Status Codes 01 and 81 on the Medicare FFS claim.

MAP supported retaining the measure in the program. The PAC/LTC Workgroup noted the value of this measure's use across post-acute care settings. The PAC/LTC Workgroup noted although the measure was risk-adjusted, it may be beneficial to stratify the data by dual-eligible and non–dual-eligible patients. For complete details of the PAC/LTC Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about this measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted existing equity concerns in rural populations and concerns that some patients may not relate to resources for discharge to home. Another member agreed that health equity concerns do exist for rural populations and other disadvantaged ZIP codes. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the <a href="meeting">meeting</a> summary.

5.6.9 03493-C-HHQR: Application of Percent of Residents Experiencing One or More Falls with Major Injury (Long Stay)

Application of Percent of Residents Experiencing One or More Falls With Major Injury (Long Stay) is a measure that examines the percentage of quality episodes in which the patient experiences one or more falls with major injury (defined as bone fractures, joint dislocations, and closed-head injuries with altered consciousness, or subdural hematoma) during the home health episode.

MAP supported removing the measure from the program with the condition that a replacement measure be included in the program. The PAC/LTC Workgroup acknowledged that falls are significant but questioned whether this is the right measure for the program. The PAC/LTC Workgroup also noted concern with the use of a measure in home health that was developed in a setting where patients have 24-hour care. The PAC/LTC Workgroup also questioned whether the measure should be indicated as a rate per thousand patient days as it is in other post-acute care settings. For complete details of the PAC/LTC Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about the measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member noted the absence of a health equity component to the measure. Another member stated that a health equity component may be present if an individual lives at home alone and does not have social support systems. The member additionally noted that the measure should be examined further for differences based on race or geographic location. The Health Equity Advisory Group agreed that equity concerns with measures that have a self-reporting component are present. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

5.6.10 05853-C-HHQR: Application of Percent of Long-Term Care Hospital (LTCH) Patients With an Admission and Discharge Functional Assessment and a Care Plan That Addresses Function

Application of Percent of Long-Term Care Hospital (LTCH) Patients With an Admission and Discharge Functional Assessment and a Care Plan That Addresses Function is a measure that examines the percentage of home health quality episodes in which patients mobility and self-care functional status was documented and at least one discharge goal was recorded.

MAP supported removing the measure from the program. The PAC/LTC Workgroup noted that the performance scores were high, lacked variation, and may have topped out. The PAC/LTC Workgroup also acknowledged that no other measures in the home health program address functional goals in the program. For complete details of the PAC/LTC Workgroup MSR meeting, please refer to the <a href="meeting summary">meeting summary</a>.

The Rural Health Advisory Group did not have any concerns about the measure from a rural health perspective. For complete details of the Rural Health Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

A Health Equity Advisory Group member expressed concerns with self-reported measures and the health equity implications. Additionally, this member stated that from an equity perspective, certain populations may be missing from the measure's data, highlighting the difficulties in assessing for disparities or inequities. For complete details of the Health Equity Advisory Group MSR meeting, please refer to the meeting summary.

# 6. Future Considerations for the MSR Process

MAP members were provided opportunities at the conclusion of each MSR virtual web meeting to provide feedback on the MSR process and future considerations. MAP members stated that evaluating measures as part of an overall measure set would be most beneficial in future MSR cycles. MAP members additionally highlighted that information on measures in development would assist in the discussions of measures recommended for removal to ensure gaps in the programs are not created. MAP members valued the use of the piloted consent agenda as well.

# 7. Conclusion

The recommendations submitted by MAP during the 2022 MSR aim to improve the quality, safety, and value of U.S. healthcare through federal healthcare payment and public reporting programs. Further, these recommendations aim to ease the burden associated with the increased number of performance measures. MAP convened representatives from quality measurement, research and improvement, purchasers, public/community health agencies, health professionals, health plans, consumers, and suppliers. The balance of diverse stakeholder interests ensured the federal government received varied and thoughtful input on recommendations to retain measures within programs. As the ecosystem of quality measurement drives ahead, discussions involving health equity, person-centered care, measure alignment, and stratification will continue. MAP looks forward to future opportunities to inform and educate all those who are invested and committed to advancing measurement science.

## **Appendices**

Appendix A: MAP Rosters and NQF Staff Coordinating Committee

CO-CHAIRS (VOTING)

Charles Khan, III, MPH

Misty Roberts, RN, MSN, CPHQ, PMP

ORGANIZATIONAL MEMBERS (VOTING)

American Academy of Hospice and Palliative Medicine Arif Kamal, MD, MBA, MHS

**American Association on Health and Disability** 

# Clarke Ross, DPA

## **American College of Physicians**

Amir Qaseem, MD, PhD, MHA, FACP

# **American Health Care Association**

David Gifford, MD, MPH

# **American Medical Association**

Michael Suk, MD, JD, MPH, MBA

#### **American Nurses Association**

Katie Boston-Leary, PhD, MBA, MHA, RN, NEA-BC

#### **America's Health Insurance Plans**

Elizabeth Goodman, JD, MSW, DrPH

# **AmeriHealth Caritas**

Parul Mistry, MD, MA

# **BlueCross BlueShield Association**

Carol Peden, MB ChB, MD, FRCA, FFICM, MPH

#### **Covered California**

Margareta Brandt, MPH

#### **HCA** Healthcare

Kacie Kleja, MBA, MS, CHDA

# **The Joint Commission**

David W. Baker, MD, MPH, FACP

# The Leapfrog Group

Leah Binder, MA, MGA

#### **National Committee for Quality Assurance**

Mary Barton, MD, MPP

#### **National Patient Advocate Foundation**

Rebecca Kirch, JD

# **Network for Regional Healthcare Improvement**

Julie Sonier, MPA

# **Patient Family Centered Care Partners**

Libby Hoy

#### **Purchaser Business Group on Health**

Emma Hoo

# INDIVIDUAL SUBJECT-MATTER EXPERTS (VOTING)

Dan Culica, MD, PhD

Janice Tufte

Ronald Walters, MD, MBA, MHA

FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIAISONS (NON-VOTING)

# Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Jeff Brady, MD, MPH

# **Centers for Disease Control and Prevention**

Arjun Srinivasan, MD

# **Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services**

Michelle Schreiber, MD

# Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology

David Hunt, MD, FACS

# Clinician Workgroup

CO-CHAIRS (VOTING)

Rob Fields, MD

Diane Padden, PhD, CRNP, FAANP

ORGANIZATIONAL MEMBERS (VOTING)

# **American Academy of Family Physicians**

Amy Mullins, MD, CPE, FAAFP

# **American College of Cardiology**

Geoffrey Rose, MS, MPH

# **American College of Radiology**

David J. Seidenwurm, MD, FACR

# **Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts**

Wei Ying, MD, MS, MBA

# **Consumer's Checkbook**

Robert Krughoff, JD

# **Council of Medical Specialty Societies**

Helen Burstin, MD, MPH, FACP

#### Genentech

Donald Nichols, PhD

# HealthPartners, Inc.

Beth Averback, MD

#### **Kaiser Permanente**

Wendolyn Gozansky, MD, MPH

# **Louise Batz Patient Safety Foundation**

Kathleen Stevens, RN, EdD, ANEF, FAAN

# Magellan Health, Inc.

Louis Parrott, MD, PhD

# OCHIN, Inc.

Scott Fields, MD, MHA

## **Patient Safety Action Network**

Yanling Yu, PhD

# **Pharmacy Quality Alliance**

Lisa Hines, PharmD

# **Purchaser Business Group on Health**

Rachel Brodie

# St. Louis Area Business Health Coalition

**Louise Probst** 

INDIVIDUAL SUBJECT-MATTER EXPERTS (VOTING)

Nishant Anand, MD, FACEP

William Fleischman, MD, MHS

Stephanie Fry, MHS

Amy Nguyen Howell, MD, MBA, FAAFP

FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIAISONS (NON-VOTING)

#### **Centers for Disease Control and Prevention**

Peter Briss, MD, MPH

#### **Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services**

Michelle Schreiber, MD

#### **Health Resources and Services Administration**

Girma Alemu, MD, MPH

# **Hospital Workgroup**

CO-CHAIRS (VOTING)

Akin Demehin, MPH

R. Sean Morrison, MD

ORGANIZATIONAL MEMBERS (VOTING)

# **America's Essential Hospitals**

Maryellen Guinan, JD

# **American Case Management Association**

Linda Van Allen, RN, BSN, PHN, CPUM

# **American Society of Anesthesiologists**

Vilma Joseph, MD

# **American Society of Health-System Pharmacists**

Anna Legreid Dopp, PharmD

# **Association of American Medical Colleges**

Janis Orlowski, MD, MACP

# **City of Hope**

Denise Morse, MBA

#### **Dialysis Patient Citizens**

Jackson Williams, JD, MPA

# **Greater New York Hospital Association**

**Zeynep Sumer King** 

# **Henry Ford Health System**

Santosh Mudiraj, MBBS, MPH

# **Kidney Care Partners**

Donna Bednarski, RN, MSN, ANP-BC, CNN

#### Medtronic

Karen Shehade, CHIE, MBA, MHP, PA-C

# **Memphis Business Group on Health**

Cristie Upshaw Travis, MSHA

#### **National Association for Behavioral Healthcare**

Frank Ghinassi, PhD, ABPP

#### **Premier Healthcare Alliance**

Aisha Pittman, MPH

# **Press Ganey**

Tejal Gandhi, MD, MPH, CPPS

# **Project Patient Care**

Martin Hatlie, JD

# **Service Employees International Union**

Sarah Nolan, MPA

# **Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine**

Kelly Gibson, MD

#### **Stratis Health**

Jennifer Lundblad, PhD, MBA

# **University of Pittsburgh Medical Center Health Plan**

Janice Donis, RN, MSN

INDIVIDUAL SUBJECT-MATTER EXPERTS (VOTING)

Richard Gelb, MA

Suellen Shea, MSN, RN-BC, CPHQ, CPPS, LSSGB

Lindsey Wisham, MPA

FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIAISONS (NON-VOTING)

# Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Unfilled

#### **Centers for Disease Control and Prevention**

Andrea Benin, MD

# **Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services**

Michelle Schreiber, MD

# PAC/LTC Workgroup

CO-CHAIRS (VOTING)

Gerri Lamb, PhD, RN, FAAN

Kurt Merkelz, MD, CMD

ORGANIZATIONAL MEMBERS (VOTING)

# AMDA – The Society for Post-Acute and Long-Term Care Medicine

Dheeraj Mahajan, MD, MBA, MPH, FACP, CIC, CHCQM, CMD

# American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation

Kurtis Hoppe, MD

# **American Geriatrics Society**

Debra Saliba, MD, MPH

# **American Occupational Therapy Association**

Pamela Roberts, PhD, OTR/L, SCFES, FAOTA, CPHQ, FNAP, FACRM

# **American Physical Therapy Association**

Alice Bell, PT, DPT

#### **ATW Health Solutions**

Knitasha Washington, DHA, MHA, FACHE

# **Encompass Health Corporation**

Mary Ellen DeBardeleben, MBA, MPH, CJCP

#### **Kindred Healthcare**

Mary Van de Kamp, MS/CCC-SLP

## LeadingAge

Janine Fincl	k-Boyle,	MBA/	HCA,	LNHA
--------------	----------	------	------	------

# **National Hospice and Palliative Care Organization**

Ben Marcantonio, MS, MEd, LMFT

# National Partnership for Healthcare and Hospice Innovation

Larry Atkins, PhD

# **National Pressure Injury Advisory Panel**

Jill Cox, PhD, RN, APN-c, CWOCN, FAAN

#### **National Transitions of Care Coalition**

James Lett, MD, CMD

# **Special Needs Plan Alliance**

Jolie Harris, DNS, RN, CAS

INDIVIDUAL SUBJECT-MATTER EXPERTS (VOTING)

Dan Andersen, PhD

David Andrews, PhD

Terrie Black, DNP, MBA, CRRN, FAHA, FAAN

Sarah Livesay, DNP, APRN, ACNP-BC, ACNS-BC

Paul Mulhausen, MD, MHS

FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIAISONS (NON-VOTING)

## **Centers for Disease Control and Prevention**

Andrew Geller, MD

#### **Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services**

Alan Levitt, MD

# Office of National Coordinator for Health Information Technology

Brenda Akinnagbe, MPH

# Rural Health Advisory Group

CO-CHAIRS (VOTING)

Keith Mueller, PhD

# Kimberly Rask, MD, PhD, FACP

ORGANIZATIONAL MEMBERS (VOTING)

# **American Academy of Family Physicians**

Jorge Duchicela, MD, FAAFP

# **American Academy of Physician Assistants**

Stacy Scroggins, DMSc, PA-C

# **American College of Emergency Physicians**

Anisha Turner, MD

# **American Hospital Association**

Stephen Tahta, MD

# **American Society of Health-System Pharmacists**

Rena Sackett, PharmD, BCPS

#### LifePoint Health

Sandi Hyde, BSME, MSPS

# **Michigan Center for Rural Health**

Crystal Barter, MS

# **Minnesota Community Measurement**

Collette Cole, RN, BSN, CPHQ

# **National Association of Rural Health Clinics**

Bill Finerfrock

# **National Rural Health Association**

Brock Slabach, MPH, FACHE

# National Rural Letter Carriers' Association (NRLCA)

Cameron Deml

# Truven Health Analytics LLC / IBM Watson Health Company

Perry Payne, MD, JD, MPP

# **UnitedHealth Group**

Rhonda Robinson Beale, MD

INDIVIDUAL SUBJECT-MATTER EXPERTS (VOTING)

Michael Fadden, MD

**Rev. Bruce Hanson** Karen James, PhD, MS Cody Mullen, PhD Jessica Schumacher, PhD, MS Ana Verzone, MS, APRN, FNP, DNP, CNM Holly Wolff, MHA FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIAISONS (NON-VOTING) Federal Office of Rural Health Policy, Health Resources and Services Administration Craig Caplan, MA **Indian Health Services** Susy Postal, MD Center for Medicare & Medicaid Innovation, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services Emily Moore, MPH, FACHE **Health Equity Advisory Group** CO-CHAIRS (VOTING) Rebekah Angove, PhD Laurie Zephyrin, MD, MPH, MBA ORGANIZATIONAL MEMBERS (VOTING) Aetna Joy Bland, DBH, RN, CCM, CPHQ **American Medical Association** Karthik Sivashanker, MD, MPH, CPPS **American Nurses Association** Roberta Waite, EDD, PMHCNS, RN, MSN, ANEF, FAAN

**American Society of Health-System Pharmacists** 

Lanita White, PharmD

# **America's Essential Hospitals**

Kirsten Bibbins-Domingo, PhD, MD, MAS

# **Beth Israel Lahey Health**

Leonor Fernandez, MD

# **Fenway Health**

Chris Grasso, MPH

# Merative

Irene Dankwa-Mullan, MD, MPH

#### Kentuckiana

Stephanie Clouser, MS

# **National Committee for Quality Assurance**

Sarah Shih, MPH

# **National Health Law Program**

David Machledt, PhD

# **Patient Safety Action Network**

Alicia Cole

# **Planned Parenthood Federation of America**

Tala Mansi, MPA

#### **The SCAN Foundation**

Sarita Mohanty, MD, MPH, MBA

# Vizient

Beth Godsey, MSPA, MBA

INDIVIDUAL SUBJECT-MATTER EXPERTS (VOTING)

Emily Almeda-Lopez, MPP

Susannah Bernheim, MD, MHS

Damien Cabezas, MPH, MSW

Mark Friedberg, MD, MPP

Jeff Huebner, MD

# Gerald Nebeker, PhD, FAAIDD

# J. Nwando Olayiwola, MD, MPH, FAAFP

Nneka Sederstrom, PhD, MPH, MA, FCCP, FCCM

Cardinale Smith, MD, PhD

Melony Sorbero, PhD, MPH

Jason Suh, MD

FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIAISONS (NON-VOTING)

#### **Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services**

Robert Morgan

#### **Health Resources & Services Administration**

Sarah Potter, MS

# Office of Minority Health

Meagan Khau, MHA

# Office of National Coordinator of Health Information Technology

David Hunt, MD, FACS

#### **Veterans Health Administration**

Leslie Hausmann, PhD

#### **NQF Staff**

# Tricia Elliott, DHA, MBA, CPHQ, FNAHQ

Senior Managing Director, Measurement Science & Application

# Jenna Williams-Bader, MPH

Senior Director, Measurement Science & Application

# Chelsea Lynch, MPH, MSN, RN, CIC

Director, Emerging Initiatives

# Katie Berryman, MPAP, PMP

Director, Project Management, Program Operations

# Ivory Harding, MS

Manager, Measurement Science & Application

# Rebecca Payne, MPH

Manager, Emerging Initiatives

# Susanne Young, MPH

Manager, Measurement Science & Application

# **Maura Walsh**

Manager, Program Operations

# Ashlan Ruth, BS IE

Project Manager, Measurement Science & Application

# Gus Zimmerman, MPP

Analyst, Measurement Science & Application

# Mary McCutcheon, MPP

Analyst, Measurement Science & Application

# Joelencia LeFlore

Associate, Measurement Science & Application

# **Evelyn Thomas, MPH, CHES**

Specialist, Program Operations

Taroon Amin, PhD, MPH

Consultant